THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robin B. Stilwell
Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2019-001375
Circuit Court Case No. 2018-CP-23-3382

RECEIVED
MAR 20 2020
SC Court of Appeals

John W. Hine and Maria W. Hine..... Appellants,

v.

Timothy M. McCrory, individually and as agent, Michael P.
McCrory, Seabrook L. Marchant, and The Marchant Company, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

WOMBLE BOND DICKINSON (US) LLP

M. Todd Carroll
South Carolina Bar 74000
todd.carroll@wbd-us.com
Bryant S. Caldwell
S.C. Bar No. 102206
bryant.caldwell@wbd-us.com
1221 Main Street, Suite 1600
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

John and Maria Hine purchased their house in 2008. In 2012, they discovered an isolated amount of termite damage that had not been disclosed in the statutorily-required Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement, which they repaired for less than \$4,000. In 2018, however, the family discovered a massive amount of additional undisclosed termite damage in a different, load-bearing section of the house that the defendants had actively masked with bits of 2x4 studs and then hid behind sheetrock. This additional termite damage required repairs in excess of \$100,000. The Hine Family brought suit to recover for this extensive newly-discovered, previously-concealed damage.

The trial court granted summary judgment against the Hine Family based on a three-year statute of limitations and held that the family's discovery of an isolated, minor amount of undisclosed termite damage on one corner of the house in 2012 should have put them on notice of extensive damage on the opposite side of the house that the defendants had actively concealed.

Should a jury have been allowed to determine whether the Hine Family should have known about damage in other parts of their house that the defendants deliberately concealed when the family discovered an isolated, minor amount of termite damage elsewhere in the house in 2012?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of the defendants' fraudulent conduct when flipping a residential property in Greenville, South Carolina. The facts regarding the defendants' liability are generally undisputed.

I. The McCrory brothers flipped a house, which the Hine Family purchased in 2008.

The defendants include a pair of brothers, Timothy and Michael McCrory, who purchased the house at 416 Leyswood Drive in Greenville on September 7, 2005. (R. p. 69; First Am. Compl. ¶ 8.) It is a single-story ranch house with a partially-finished basement, with the stairwell to the basement located in the middle of the home.

After renovating a portion of the house, the McCrory brothers put it up for sale in 2008. In their disclosure, they noted that they framed out and sheetrocked two rooms in the basement, but they—falsely—disclaimed knowledge of any unrepaired termite damage. (R. pp. 96–99; Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement.)

Timothy McCrory is also a realtor, and he was the listing agent for this home. (R. p. 69; First Am. Compl. ¶ 11.) At the time, he worked as an agent for The Marchant Company, of whom Seabrook Marchant is the broker-in-charge. Both Mr. Marchant and The Marchant Company are defendants to this case as well, given the liability that attaches to brokerages with respect to residential-disclosure obligations imposed by the South Carolina Code.

John and Maria Hine, a husband and wife, are the plaintiffs in this case. Mr. Hine is an attorney, and he finished his legal education with an LLM in taxation from the University of Florida in July 2008. (R. p. 167; Mr. Hine Dep. 5:5–8.) Almost concurrent with his graduation, the Hine Family purchased this home from the McCrory brothers on July 1, 2008. (R. p. 70; First Am. Compl. ¶ 17.) The sales price was \$175,000. (R. p. 69; *id.* ¶ 16.)

II. The Hine Family discovered a discrete amount of undisclosed termite damage in a corner of the main level of the house in 2012, which it repaired for \$4,000.

In 2012, anticipating the arrival of their second child, the Hine Family began preparing a corner bedroom on the main level of the house to be a nursery. As part of those preparations, Mr. Hine removed the room's shoe moldings in order to paint them. Upon removing the shoe molding, however, he discovered some isolated termite damage behind the baseboards, which required approximately \$4,000 to repair. (R. p. 155; Letter from Mr. Hine (May 14, 2012); R. p. 165; Letter from Mr. Hine (July 9, 2012).)

Mr. Hine reached out to the McCrory brothers, Mr. Marchant, and The Marchant Company regarding reimbursement for repairing that termite damage. They refused to compensate the Hine Family, who ultimately dropped the issue given the isolated nature of the damage and low dollar amount at stake. (R. p. 169; Mr. Hine Dep. 27:1–16.)

III. The Hine Family later discovered over \$100,000 of undisclosed, unrepaired termite damage in a different part of their house, which had been proactively concealed by the McCrory brothers.

In February 2018, the Hine Family began renovating their master bathroom, which is located on main level, but on the opposite side of the house as the room that had been converted to a nursery in 2012. (R. p. 70; First Am. Compl. ¶ 18.) During that renovation, the Hine Family removed subflooring in the master bathroom, which revealed termite damage that extended beyond the bathroom. (*Id.* ¶ 19.) Like a magician endlessly pulling scarves out of a coat pocket, the Hine Family continued demolishing more and more of their house to determine where the newly-revealed damage would finally end.

After removing additional drywall, paneling, and insulation chasing the trail of damage, the Hine Family discovered that the entire framing of the staircase to the basement—the center of the home, which supported all of the main level flooring—had been eaten away with termites. (*Id.*

¶ 20.) Incredibly, some of this termite-destroyed framing had been patched together with short sections of 2x4 wood studs and then covered up with drywall so that the extensive damage would be invisible absent a full demolition of all framing in the core of the house. (*Id.* ¶¶ 21–24.) And there is no doubt that the McCrory brothers were responsible for this, as one of the wood pieces used to mask the damage has a “date of manufacturing” stamp on it of September 7, 2005—the very same day that the McCrory brothers bought the house before flipping it. (*Id.* ¶¶ 25–26.)

IV. The Hine Family filed suit seeking damages associated with this fraudulent conduct, but the circuit court granted summary judgment against the Hine Family based on the statute of limitations.

The Hine Family commenced this case on June 18, 2018, and asserted claims for fraud, conversion, negligence, and a variety of statutory violations against the McCrory brothers, Mr. Marchant, and The Marchant Company for their respective roles in the fraud detailed above. (R. p. 12; Compl. *passim.*) On August 15, 2018, the Hine Family amended the complaint to add claims of negligent hiring, training, supervision, and retention; unjust enrichment; breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and a violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act. (R. p. 68; First Am. Compl. *passim.*)

After discovery, the defendants moved for summary judgment. They did not argue that they were entitled to win the case on its merits—indeed, they will not when a jury hears the evidence—but instead argued that all of the claims asserted were time-barred because the Hine Family uncovered an isolated amount of termite damage in a different part of the house in 2012. (R. p. 152; Defs.’ Mot. for Summ. J. at 7 (“The undisputed evidence shows that Plaintiffs either knew or should have known about the alleged unrepaired termite damage [in the staircase framing that supported the entire main level of the house] on or about April 27, 2012.”)).

In response, the Hine Family argued that it would be objectively unreasonable to believe that they should have known about over \$100,000 of termite damage in the framing of the staircase that the McCrory brothers hid behind sheetrock simply because the family previously discovered a relatively minor amount of termite damage on the complete opposite side of the house. (R. p. 213; Hine Family Mem. in Opp'n to Summ. J. at 5.)

Despite this factual dispute, the circuit court granted summary judgment in the defendants' favor and held, apparently as a matter of law, that discovering one undisclosed issue with a house triggers the limitations period for all other fraudulent activity associated with that same house. In the circuit court's view, because the Hine Family discovered a minor amount of termite damage in one portion of the house in 2012, "Plaintiffs knew or should have known that there was unrepaired termite damage that was not disclosed to them during the process of purchasing the property," and were thus time-barred from pursuing any other claim, even though the family's claims in this case are unrelated to the previously-discovered damage. (R. p. 6; Order at 4.)

The Hine Family timely filed and served a motion to alter or amend the summary judgment ruling, which the circuit court denied by order dated August 8, 2019. (R. p. 240; Mot. to Alter or Amend; R. p. 10; Order Denying Plaintiffs' Motion to Alter or Amend.) This appeal followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Summary judgment is proper when there is no disputed material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law based on those undisputed facts. Rule 56(c), SCRPC. It is not proper, though, when even a scintilla of evidence suggests a disputed material fact is present. *Hancock v. Mid-South Mgmt. Co.*, 381 S.C. 326, 330, 673 S.E.2d 801, 803 (2009). Additionally, when evaluating summary judgment, all disputed facts and inferences drawn therefrom must be resolved in favor of the non-movant. *Id.* at 229–30, 673 S.E.2d at 802.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court has wrongly deprived the Hine Family of its day in court. As a matter of law, the Hine Family is entitled to present this case to a jury and let a jury of Greenville residents decide whether Mr. and Mrs. Hine acted reasonably in not destroying the entirety of their home in 2012 to figure out if it contained any termite damage that the McCrory brothers had actively hidden. Likewise, any statute of limitations should be equitably tolled here because of the McCrory brothers' fraudulent conduct. This Court should reverse the circuit court's summary judgment order and remand this matter for a trial accordingly.

I. It is hornbook law in South Carolina that it is for the jury to decide when a plaintiff knows or should have known that he or she had a cause of action.

In South Carolina, a statute of limitations begins running when “the underlying cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered.” *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. IMK Dev. Co.*, 425 S.C. 268, 271, 821 S.E.2d 504, 506 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *Holly Woods Ass'n of Residence Owners v. Hiller*, 392 S.C. 172, 183, 708 S.E.2d 787, 793 (Ct. App. 2011)). This analysis is objective, rather than subjective, and asks whether the circumstances presented “would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some right of his has been invaded, or that some claim against another party may exist.” *Id.* (quoting *Holly Wood Ass'n*, 392 S.C. at 183–84, 708 S.E.2d at 793.)

Critically, where evidence conflicts as to whether a plaintiff knew or should have known that a claim had accrued, it is a question for the jury, not the court, to resolve. *See, e.g., id.* at 275–76, 821 S.E.2d at 508 (“The facts in this case created a jury question as to whether it was reasonable for the homeowners to know, or by reasonable diligence discover, there were issues with their construction.”).

Here, the defendants argued, and the circuit court held as a matter of law, that the Hine Family was on notice of over \$100,000 of structural damage that the McCrory brothers patched with bits of 2x4 and then concealed with sheetrock in the center of the house based on the fact that the family identified an isolated, minimal amount of termite damage along the perimeter of the house in 2012.

This holding assumes that finding an isolated issue with a property necessarily puts a plaintiff on notice of every single other conceivable issue related to that same property. South Carolina courts, however, have repeatedly rejected such an assumption as a matter of law.

For instance, in *McAlhany v. Carter*, 415 S.C. 54, 58, 781 S.E.2d 105, 107–08 (Ct. App. 2015), *aff'd* Op. No. 2017-MO-007, 2017 S.C. Unpub. LEXIS 16 (May 3, 2017), a homebuyer sued a seller and an inspection company for undisclosed mold in the house. Relying on the statute of limitations, the circuit court granted summary judgment in favor of the seller and the inspection company. *Id.* at 61, 781 S.E.2d at 109. The circuit court explained that the homebuyer was generally on notice that the inspection company had “not done its job properly” because it had issued a report in mid-October 2007 stating that there were no termites in the house, but the homebuyer had visually seen termites in the house later that same month. *Id.* at 65–66, 781 S.E.2d at 112. In the circuit court’s view, because the homebuyer was aware of one incorrect issue by the inspection company and seller, the statute of limitations began to run for all issues that arose out of that same general situation.

However, this Court reversed and held that the issue of when a reasonable person would have been aware of mold in the house was one for the jury. *Id.* at 66, 781 S.E.2d at 112. It specifically noted that awareness of one issue arising from the inspection did not equate to notice of any other problems with the house or the inspection. *See id.* (“Nevertheless, a reasonable person

would not have been on notice of a potential negligence claim for mold damage.”) (emphasis supplied by the *McAlhany* court).

This is precisely the situation presented by the instant case. The defendants argued, and the circuit court held, that when the Hine Family discovered a minimal amount of termite damage on a perimeter wall of the main-level nursery in 2012, the family was necessarily on notice of over \$100,000 of damage on the interior, load-bearing framing of the basement staircase the McCrory brothers had hidden behind sheetrock. The *McAlhany* court specifically rejected just such an argument and held that the reasonableness of a homebuyer’s diligence in discovering his or her claim should be resolved by the jury. The Court should reverse and remand accordingly.

Nor is *McAlhany* an isolated case. Numerous other decisions follow exactly that same reasoning.

For instance, in *Holly Woods Association*, a homeowners’ association sued a developer for a variety of “general irrigation and design problems throughout the development.” 392 S.C. at 183, 708 S.E.2d 793. The developer argued that the association had been on notice of these water-based claims as early as 1991, when the association’s annual meeting minutes revealed problems with “a pool leak, drainage around building five, and termite bonding.” *Id.* at 184, 708 S.E.2d at 794. Because the association did not bring suit until 2005, the developer argued that the moisture-based claims were time-barred. *Id.*

This Court rejected that argument. It held that even though some of the issues on which the association based its claims were similar in nature to those uncovered in 1991, the association’s claims were not barred by the statute of limitations because the damages associated with the claims were different from and unrelated to the issues discovered in 1991. *Id.* As the Court concluded:

We find it is a jury question as to whether the damages the Association claimed in 2005 were different from those it experienced in the past. There

is evidence from board members and Geiger that the problems, though similar in nature, were different. Therefore, we find the circuit court did not err in denying Appellants' directed verdict motion based on the statute of limitations.

Id. at 185, 708 S.E.2d at 794.

The Court recently reinforced that analysis in *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Association*. There, various homeowners and a homeowners' association were generally aware of roof leaks and water intrusion in some properties as early as 2003, but did not file suit until 2010 regarding defective construction of columns, framing, and porch railings that allowed water intrusion. 425 S.C. at 275–76, 821 S.E.2d at 508.

The Court held that because these were latent defects that were not revealed until heavy rain in 2009, the claims were not time-barred despite a general awareness of water intrusion issues back in 2003. *Id.* Just as with the extensive damage hidden around the Hine Family's staircase, the Court specifically noted that the only way to have discovered the specific issues on which the claims were based would have been through "destructive testing." *Id.* at 275, 821 S.E.2d at 508. In the Court's view, it was a "jury question as to whether it was reasonable for the homeowners to know, or by reasonable diligence discover, there were issues with their construction." *Id.* at 275–76, 821 S.E.2d at 508.

Other examples of this issue being one for the jury's resolution abound. *See, e.g., Santee Portland Cement Co. v. Daniel Int'l Corp.*, 299 S.C. 269, 273–74, 384 S.E.2d 693, 695–96 (1989) (reversing holding that a construction defect claim was time-barred, holding that an awareness of construction defects in one area of a project did not put the plaintiff on notice of all claims that could relate to those defects, and concluding that the "reasonableness" of the plaintiff's investigation into the defects "was an issue to be decided by the jury"), *vacated in unrelated part by Atlas Food Sys. & Servs., Inc. v. Crane Nat'l Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp.*, 319 S.C.

556, 559, 462 S.E.2d 858, 860 (1995); *Box v. Sparrow Group, LLC*, Op. No. 2018-UP-353, 2018 S.C. App. Unpub. LEXIS 355, at *4–6 (Ct. App. Aug. 15, 2018) (reversing a circuit court’s grant of summary judgment based on the statute of limitations where a residential buyer sued a seller for fraudulent statements in a property disclosure, as the determination of whether the buyer acted reasonably in discovering her claims was one for the jury).

The reasoning of this line of case law holds particularly true here because the Hine Family’s discovery of termite damage in 2012 would have, at most, put the family on notice that the defendants failed to disclose something about the house on the Residential Property Condition Disclosure Statement. It did not put the Hine Family on notice that it had been the victim of fraudulent behavior, nor did it put the family on notice that the McCrory brothers had intentionally concealed an extreme amount of termite damage in the heart of the house. But the first three causes of action in the Amended Complaint are for fraud, and the rest draw on that same conduct. These are claims that the Hine Family simply could not have asserted based on the information known or reasonably available in 2012, and it is reversible error to hold that the family is time-barred from presenting this issue to a jury for resolution.

II. The Court should set aside any limitations issues as a matter of equity.

Even if the Court finds that the Hine Family somehow should have known about the McCrory brothers’ fraudulent conduct earlier than 2018, and that the family’s failure to learn of that misconduct was objectively unreasonable,¹ it should still reverse the circuit court’s summary judgment ruling by equitably tolling the statutes of limitations.

¹ Notably, every single defendant agreed that the Hine Family’s conduct in this case was reasonable. (R. pp. 223–24; Dep. M. McCrory 34:1–4, 46:11–13; R. pp. 229–31; Dep. T. McCrory 82:14–23, 83:4–15, 85:16–25; R. pp. 236–39; Dep. Marchant 91:1–11, 97:12–99:13.)

Courts have the inherent power to equitably toll a statute of limitations “where justice demands it.” *Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehabilitation Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 115, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009). Though it is to be used infrequently, a court should equitably toll a statute of limitations in order “to ensure fundamental practicality and fairness.” *Id.* (quoting *Rodriguez v. Superior Court*, 98 Cal. Rptr. 3d 728, 736 (Cal. Ct. App. 2009)).

The Supreme Court has insisted that this power is not subject to rigid guidelines, but instead must remain flexible in order to apply whenever the circumstances render the passing of the limitations period unfair. Examples of such instances include those where a party has actively attempted to timely commence litigation but was precluded from doing so due to circumstances beyond its control, or where a plaintiff “by exercising reasonable diligence, could not have discovered essential information bearing on his or her claim.” *Id.* at 116, 687 S.E.2d at 33 (quoting *Abbott v. State*, 979 P.2d 994, 998 (Alaska 1999)).

This power is also triggered when, as here, a defendant has deliberately concealed the facts and circumstances that would give rise to a claim. *See Doe v. Bishop of Charleston*, 407 S.C. 128, 140, 754 S.E.2d 494, 500–01 (2014) (“Deliberate acts of deception by a defendant calculated to conceal from a potential plaintiff that he has a cause of action toll the statute of limitations.”).

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