THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE ROBIN B. STILWELL
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001375
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2018-CP-23-3382

John H. Hine and Maria W. Hine,

APPELLANTS,

versus

Timothy M. McCrory, individually and as agent,
Michael P. McCrory, Seabrook L. Marchant, and
The Marchant Company,

RESPONDENTS.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

David A. Anderson
Carmen V. Ganjehsani
James B. Robey, III
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA
1900 Barnwell Street (29201)
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771-4400

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS
TIMOTHY M. McCRORY, individually

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

Statutes of limitation . . . protect people from being forced to defend themselves against stale claims. The statutes recognize that with the passage of time, evidence becomes more difficult to obtain and is less reliable. Physical evidence is lost or destroyed, witnesses become impossible to locate, and memories fade. With passing time, a defendant faces an increasingly difficult task in formulating and mounting an effective defense. Additionally, statutes of limitation encourage plaintiffs to initiate actions promptly while evidence is fresh and a court will be able to judge more accurately.

Moriarty v. Garden Sanctuary Church of God, 334 S.C. 150, 163-64, 511 S.E.2d 699, 706 (Ct. App. 1999).

Statutes of limitations aim to relieve the courts of the burden of trying stale claims when a plaintiff has slept on his rights. McKinney v. CSX Transp., Inc., 298 S.C. 47, 49-50, 378 S.E.2d 69, 70 (Ct. App. 1989). The cornerstone policy consideration underlying statutes of limitations is the laudable goal of law to promote and achieve finality in

litigation. Carolina Marine Handling, Inc. v. Lasch, 363 S.C. 169, 175, 609 S.E.2d 548, 552 (Ct. App. 2005).

The parties do not dispute that the three year statute of limitations set forth under S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-530 controls in this case. “[A]ll actions initiated under Section 15-3-530(5) must be commenced within three years after the person **knew or by the exercise of reasonable diligence should have known that he had a cause of action.**” S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-535 (emphasis added). In other terms, “the clock starts running when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist.” Gibson, 383 S.C. at 406, 680 S.E.2d at 782.

Under South Carolina law, in determining when a cause of action arises under § 15-3-530, courts apply the “discovery rule.” Rumpf v. Mass. Mut. Life Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 386, 394, 593 S.E.2d 183, 187 (Ct. App. 2004). According to this rule, the statute of limitations begins to run “when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered,” or, in other words, “when a plaintiff has notice that he might have a remedy for a harm.” Id.

The standard as to when the statute of limitations begins to run is objective rather than subjective. Wiggins v. Edwards, 314 S.C. 126, 128, 442 S.E.2d 169, 170 (1994); Gibson, 383 S.C. at 406, 680 S.E.2d at 782. Therefore, the test is not whether the particular plaintiff actually knew a claim is existed. Rumpf, 357 S.C. at 395, 593 S.E.2d at 187. The test is when a person **could or should have known** through reasonable diligence that some cause of action exists against another person rather than when a

person obtains actual knowledge of a potential claim or of the facts giving rise thereto. Dorman v. Campbell, 331 S.C. 179, 184, 500 S.E.2d 786, 789 (Ct. App. 1998).

The key element of reasonable diligence is notice. Reasonable diligence requires that a party act with some promptness where facts and circumstances would put a person on notice that some right has been invaded or that some claim against another party might exist. Gibson, 383 S.C. at 406, 680 S.E.2d at 782; see also Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 363-64, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996). The statute begins to run at this point and not when:

- the advice of counsel is sought;
- a full-blown theory of recovery is developed; or
- the injured party comprehends the full extent of the damage.

Gibson, 383 S.C. at 406, 680 S.E.2d at 782; see also Dean, 321 S.C. at 363-64, 468 S.E.2d at 647; Wiggins, 314 S.C. at 128, 442 S.E.2d at 170; Dorman, 331 S.C. at 184-85, 500 S.E.2d at 789; Barr v. City of Rock Hill, 330 S.C. 640, 645, 500 S.E.2d 157, 160 (Ct. App. 1998).

Where there is no conflicting evidence or where only one reasonable inference can be drawn from the evidence, the trial court should determine as a matter of law when a party knew or should have known it had a claim. Gibson, 383 S.C. at 406-07, 680 S.E.2d at 782.

The undisputed evidence before the Trial Court established the Hines were aware of their claims for alleged undisclosed termite damage by April 27, 2012. Mr. Hine wrote a letter to Seabrook Marchant on May 14, 2012 advising Mr. Marchant of his April 27, 2012 discovery of “extensive” termite damage on the Property. [R.pp. 155-156; May 14, 2012 Ltr.] In this letter, Mr. Hine accused the McCrorys of failing to disclose the

termite damage on the Disclosure Statement and contended the listing agent should be liable for the misrepresentation. [R.pp. 156; Id.] Both Mr. and Mrs. Hine both acknowledged in their depositions that the termite damage was discovered on April 27, 2012. [R.pp. 168; 207; J. Hine Dep., p. 25, ll. 13-18; M. Hine Dep., p. 15, ll. 15-19 (conceding that the Hines first determined they had termite damage on the Property on April 27, 2012.).]

On April 27, 2012, the Hines not only could or should have known through reasonable diligence that they had a potential cause of action against the Defendants; the Hines in fact **did know** they had a potential cause of action as evidenced by their very letters on May 14, 2012 and July 9, 2012 demanding damages from the Defendants. [R.pp. 155-156; 165; Ltrs.] Despite being fully aware that they had a potential claim for nondisclosure of termite damage, the Hines did not file suit within three years after they knew they had a cause of action.

The statute of limitations on any claim by the Hines against the Defendants for undisclosed termite damage expired on April 27, 2015. The Hines did not file an action against the Defendants by this date.

Over three years after the statute of limitations expired, on February 3, 2018, the Hines discovered additional damage from termites on the Property, which they discovered after experiencing live termites on the Property in 2013. Four months after this discovery, on June 18, 2018, did the Hines file a lawsuit for the first time against the Defendants for the nondisclosure of alleged unrepaired termite damage. The lawsuit, being untimely, was correctly dismissed by the Trial Court.

The Hines challenge the Trial Court's dismissal of their claims based on the expiration of the statute of limitations, contending that because they discovered additional damage from termites in 2018, the clock restarts on their claims for undisclosed termite damage. The courts have time and again rejected the same argument by other plaintiffs desperate to extend long expired limitations periods.

In Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 468 S.E.2d 645 (1996), the appellant purchased real property in downtown Charleston in September 1984 after a contractor inspected it and determined it to be structurally sound. 321 S.C. at 362, 468 S.E.2d at 646. Two months later, the appellant observed a fine crack approximately three feet in length at the front right corner of the building and concluded it was attributable to a construction company's pile driving at a nearby construction site for Charleston Place. Id. The appellant immediately hired expert consultants to examine and repair the crack. Id. In August 1985, the appellant noticed the original crack had expanded and the facade of the building was beginning to bulge and buckle. Id. at 362, 468 S.E.2d at 646-47. The appellant additionally observed that a second crack had appeared at another location. Id. at 362, 468 S.E.2d at 647. After being informed the building was no longer structurally sound, the appellant brought suit against the construction company in 1991. Id. At trial, the circuit court directed a verdict against the appellant, finding as a matter of law that the applicable six-year statute of limitations had expired prior to the filing of her lawsuit. Id. at 363, 468 S.E.2d at 647.

The Court of Appeals reversed the circuit court, finding a question of fact existed as to whether the appellant was reasonably diligent in determining whether the construction company caused the damage to her building, thereby triggering the statute of

limitations in 1984. Id. On appeal to this State's Supreme Court, the appellant argued the 1984 crack and the 1985 bulging of the bricks presented two distinct harms and, thus, two different dates of accrual existed for statute of limitations purposes. Id. at 364, 468 S.E.2d at 647. The Supreme Court disagreed and rejected the argument that two distinct harms existed, holding the circuit court correctly directed a verdict for the construction company. Id. at 366, 468 S.E.2d at 648. Finding the statute of limitations began to run in November 1984—when the appellant initially discovered the first crack—the Supreme Court explained:

Because [the appellant] **had notice** in November 1984 that she may have a cause of action against [the construction company], **there is no need to toll the statute of limitations beyond that date.** [The appellant's] subsequent failure to act with reasonable diligence in pursuing such claim is no reason to toll the statute of limitations until such time as further damage evolved. Moreover, the fact that [the appellant] **may not have comprehended** in 1984 that the original crack would expand causing the building to ultimately buckle is **immaterial.**

Id. at 365–66, 468 S.E.2d at 648 (emphasis added).

In Barr v. City of Rock Hill, 330 S.C. 640, 500 S.E.2d 157 (Ct. App. 1998), the appellants purchased a home from the Rock Hill Economic Development Corporation (RHEDC), which had purchased the house from the City of Rock Hill (the “City”) in February 1985. Id. at 642, 500 S.E.2d at 158. From May 1987 through May 1990, four annual termite inspections revealed excessive moisture under the appellants' home. Id. Termite inspectors suggested several repairs. Id. In March 1992, the appellants contacted the City and requested an inspection and report, which found several problems in the home's crawl space. Id. at 640, 500 S.E.2d at 159. In August 1992, the appellants received a structural engineering report disclosing numerous defects in the house, several of which were unrelated to the moisture problem. Id. at 643, 500 S.E.2d at

159. The appellants filed suit in March 1994. Id. On appeal, this court affirmed the circuit court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the City and RHEDC based on the statute of limitations. Id. at 646, 500 S.E.2d at 160. Despite the fact that the appellants did not realize “**the magnitude of the problem**” until August 1992, this Court held the circuit court correctly ruled the termite inspection reports were sufficient notice to trigger the running of the statute of limitations. Id. at 645–46, 500 S.E.2d at 160 (emphasis added).

Relying upon Dean and Barr, this Court in Allwin v. Russ Cooper Assocs., Inc., 426 S.C. 1, 825 S.E.2d 707 (Ct. App. 2019), cert. denied, (Sept. 18, 2019), also held that a property owner's claims against an architectural firm and general contractor began when she first became aware of numerous defects in the house and not when she realized the full extent of the damage from the construction defects. The home had been completed in 1994, and in the late 1990s and early 2000s, a tenant notified the homeowner of numerous problems with the roof, chimneys, exterior walls, windows, doors, patio, and basement, as well as interior water damage to hardwood floors, drywall, wallpaper, and subfloor framing. The tenant also reported mold, mildew, peeling paint, and water stains. Id. at 4-5, 825 S.E.2d at 709. Over the next ten years, the homeowner engaged various contractors and inspectors to investigate and repair some of the construction issues. Id. at 5-10, 825 S.E.2d at 709-11.

The homeowner had a full forensic analysis of the home performed by an engineer in 2011, and due to his concern about unknown conditions, the engineer suggested a comprehensive scope of repair for the house, including the removal of the roof, a large concrete deck, and all exterior siding and interior drywall so that any

potential latent defects could be located and repaired. Id. at 9-10, 825 S.E.2d at 711. A letter was sent by counsel for the homeowner to the architectural firm in 2011 advising of the potential claim against it for design deficiencies and the resulting damages. Id. at 14, 825 S.E.2d at 714.

The homeowner filed a construction and design defect action for negligence, gross negligence, and breach of warranty against the general contractor in 2013 and added the architectural firm as a defendant in 2014. Id. at 10, 825 S.E.2d at 711. Both defendants moved for summary judgment based upon the expiration of the three-year statute of limitations, which the trial court granted. Id. at 11, 825 S.E.2d at 712.

On appeal, the homeowner argued that conflicting evidence existed as to whether the statute of limitations barred her construction defect claims. Id. at 11-12, 825 S.E.2d at 712. This Court rejected the homeowner's arguments, observing that like the appellant in Dean, the homeowner discovered issues with her home which led her to investigate the problems and perform multiple repairs between 1999 and 2011. However, despite actual knowledge of her potential claims for this damage, the homeowner failed to pursue her claims in a timely manner. This Court also noted that because the homeowner was put on notice of the home's design and construction defects, her failure to comprehend the magnitude of the water intrusion and other defective conditions was immaterial and did not extend the statute of limitations period. Id. at 17, 825 S.E.2d at 715.

The Hines' position that their claim for undisclosed termite damage is resurrected because they discovered additional termite damage in 2018 is unfounded. Their argument runs counter to the well-established case law in Dean, Barr, and Allwin that a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff is put on notice of a potential claim and not

when the plaintiff realizes the full extent of the damage. See also Dillon County Sch. Dist. No. Two v. Lewis Sheet Metal Works, Inc., 286 S.C. 207, 215, 332 S.E.2d 555, 559 (Ct. App. 1985), overruled on other grounds by, Atlas Food Sys. and Servs., Inc. v. Crane Nat'l Vendors Div. of Unidynamics Corp., 319 S.C. 556, 462 S.E.2d 858 (1995) (“The fact, however, the [plaintiff] did not appreciate the full extent of the damage until later is immaterial.”).

The case law upon which the Hines rely do not support a different result. In McAlhany v. Carter, 415 S.C. 54, 781 S.E.2d 105 (Ct. App. 2015), a homeowner brought an action in 2011 against the prior owner for negligent misrepresentation and against a pest control company for negligence, alleging that company did not perform the wood infestation inspection in accordance with the South Carolina Pesticide Control Act and that the homeowner was injured when mold spores were released into the air while painting. The defendants moved for summary judgment based upon the expiration of the statute of limitations, which the trial court granted finding that the homeowner “knew or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence of the alleged termite and mold problems in October or November of 2007” when the home was inspected for termites. The trial court also found that based upon deposition testimony, the homeowner discovered in 2007 that the prior owner had not installed a proper moisture barrier and observed mold when he pulled back the existing hardwood floor. The homeowner contended he, however, did not discover mold in the home until 2009. Id. at 61-62, 781 S.E.2d at 109-110.

On appeal, this Court reversed the trial court’s conclusion that the statute of limitations had expired on the homeowner’s claims, finding that there was conflicting

evidence in the record as to when the homeowner actually discovered the presence of mold in the house. The trial court granted summary judgment based on the homeowner's deposition testimony that he discovered the mold within his residence in 2007. Id. at 59, 781 S.E.2d at 108. Later during the same deposition, however, the homeowner expressed confusion about when he discovered the mold and whether his discovery occurred as late as 2009. Id. at 61, 781 S.E.2d at 109. In the present case, it is undisputed that the Hines discovered termite damage on April 27, 2012. Therefore, McAlhany is unpersuasive because there is no conflicting evidence as to when the Hines first discovered termite damage on the Property.

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